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6. Funcuan or Use
Histone Funcuons
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RELIGION / reliaious facility RELIGION / religious facility

7. Desenouon
Architscturat Classsfication
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LATE 19TH AND 20TH CENTURY REVIVALS:

Matanais
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Saints Peter and Paul Church is a dominant feature of eastern lowa's rural landscape.
Located in the heart of Petersburg on the crest of one of the region’s gently rolling
hills, the building casts an imposing shadow over the small town. The church was
constructed in 1905 of limestone and incorporates many of the Late Gothic Revival
features found in ecclesiastical buildings of the late 19th and early 20th centuries.
Significant architectural details include the building's cruciform plan, its prominent
steeples, buttresses, lancet windows, and arches. The building has undergone few
changes and maintains its architectural integrity.
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.8. Statement ot Signrficance

Applicable National Register Criteria
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C A Propenty is associated with events that have made
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asB Propertylsassocxazedmmmwesotpom
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& C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, penod. or method of constucton of
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O D Property has yieided, or is likely to yieid,
informanon important in prehistory or history.
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& A owned by a reiigicus institution or used for
retigious purposes.

O B removed from its original location.
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O D a cemetery.
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Saints Peter and Paui Church, Petersburg, Delaware County, 1A

GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS

Building Plan and Dimensions

The building is designed using the cruciform or cross shaped plan, typicai of churches
of Gothic architecture. This "cross” is formed by the intersection of the nave, chancel
or sanctuary and apse with the transepts. A trio of steeples is located at the pase or
eastern end of this cross. The semi-poiygonal sanctuary and a rectangular sacristy
are located at its crown.

The building's plan includes five impressive portals or entrances. The primary
ntrance is located at the base of the central steepie at the east elevation of the
uilding. Entrances are also located in the adjoining steeples at the southeast and

northeast corners of the building and at the south and north ends of the transepts.

Secondary entrances to the sacristy and the basement are located aiong the north and

south elevations of the building.

There are six vertical bays on both the north and south elevations of the building. The
steepies located on the east elevation of the church create three additional baus. The
north andg south elevations of the buiiding are mirror images of one another.

The church is one hundred and fifty feet (150°) long and fifty-four feet (S4) wide.
The transepts are seventy-four feet (74') wide. The sacristy is fifteen feet (15 by
twenty-five feet (25'). The exterior walls of the building are thirty-three feet (33°)
in height with the interior arches of the sanctuary and transepts roughly forty-five
Teet (45°) high. The building has an east-west orientation.

Construction Materials

The building is constructed of limestone quarried in Stone City, lowa. The foundation
and vralls are constructed of rock faced stone with the decorative elements formed of
smoother sawed stone. The stone is square cut with regular courses. The building
“as been sandblasted and repointed.
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Saints Peter ahd Paul Church, Petersburg, Delaware County, |A

EXTERIOR ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES:

The exterior architectural features of Saints Peter and Paul Church have, for ease of
description, been broken down into the following elements: roof, steeples, windows,
entrances, and miscellaneous elements.

Roof

The building has a modified hipped roof with its ridges running the tength of the nave
and the transepts. The east end of the roof 1s gabled.

A series of three gabled dormers are located along both the north and south elevations
of the building. Two gabled dormers are located between the steeples and the
transept with the third gabled dormer placed between the transept and the sanctuary.
Three additional gabled dormers are located along each transept with one gabled
dormer per elevation. A total of twelve gabled dormers have been incorporated into
the building's design with the largest being located on the north and south ends of the
transepts.

Small stylized crosses serve as finials for the gabled dormers along the east and
west faces of each transept and those located along the north and south elevations of
the nave. Larger, more simple crosses can be found atop the peaks of the gabled
dormers located at the north and south ends of the transepts.

The roof has a slight overhang and a boxed cornice. The fascia board is simply
designed with a slight curve and a double row of half round bead molding.

The roof and gabled dormers are steeply pitched. They are covered with dark brown
asphalt shingles:

Steeples.  Three prominent steeples are located on the building's east facade.

] Center Steeple

The center steeple, one hundred and forty-five feet (145’) in height and fifteen
by fifteen feet square, is the largest of the three and serves os the primary
DEC-9§2-1954 ©8:50 ‘ 5@73349124 P.a3



g Sarm 104000 ’ OMD AGDSTE S 10004078

Utiltad States Department of the interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

-
«
-

Section number __7 Page

Saints Peter and Paul Church, Petersburg, Delaware County, 1A

entrance to the church. Enclosed staircases providing access to the church's
choir 10ft, are located on both the north and south elevations of the steepie. It
is flanked by two smaller steepies, each with its own entrance.

Four lancet arches with multi-foiled tracery provide access to the steepie's
belfry. Louvered wwood shutters have been installed inside the arches.

A polygonal spire with four gable walls serving as its base, is set atop the
square steeple. The spire, salvaged from an eariier church constructed by the
parish on the site in 1868, is covered with copper sheathing which has been
painted. A simple cross, twelve feet in height, adorns the spire. A decorative
pinnacle is located at each of the four corners of the steeple.

s Flanking Steepies

Two smaller steepies, one hundred and twenty feet (120°) in height and tweive
by tweive feet square, have been constructed at forty-five degree angies to the
northeast and southeast corners of the building. The shape of the steepies
varies. Their base is square. The upper one third of the structure is octagonal
in shape. Eight lancet arches with cinquefail tracery provide access to the
beifries. The wails of the steeple are gabled. The spires are polygonal in
shape. A simple eight foot tall crass adorns each spire.

The smaller flanking steeples are identical in appearance.

Windows:

A defining architectural feature of the building is its decorative frosted and stained
glass windows with their muiti-foiled tracery. The windows are topped by an
stepped arch of smooth, sawed limestone. Decorative stone outlines the window
frames setting them apart from the building's rock-faced walls. A simple stone sill
finishes of f each windov.
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The stainea glass windows were designed and manuractured in Munster, Germany
under the direction of Victor von der Frost. Each depicts an important religious
figure or biblical event.

° Lancet Windows
The church’s lancet windows generally fall into one of the following groupings:
Sets of three lancet windows:

L A trio of narrow lancet windows consisting of a single large narrow
window flanked by twa longer and equally narrow windows. Located at
the ends of the transepts, the windows in the north transept depict the
birth of Jesus while the windows in the south transept represent the
Ascension. The building has a total of two sets of windows grouped in
this fashion.

) A trio of narrow lancet windows consisting of a single window flanked
by two smaller windows. These windows are located in the gables of the
gabled dormers along the north and south elevations of the nave. Similar
groupings are located on each of the faces of the steeples which flank
the main entrance. The building has a total of fourteen sets of windows
grouped in this fashion.

o A single trio of narrow mid-sized lancet windows is located in the mid-
point of the center steeple on its east face. The windows are simply
framed with a large keystone at the center of their pointed arch.

Coupled lancet windows:

() Small side-by-side lancet windows are located in the basement
entrances on the south and north elevations of the building. A total of
two sets of windows are grouped In this fashion.

DEC-92-1994 ©8:5@ S@73340124 98% P.B4
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) Small side-by-side narrow iancet windows are located in the base of
the two smaller steeples. The building has a total of four sets of
windows grouped in this fashion.

Single lancet windows:

() A total of six Jarge single lancet windows are located beneath each of
the gabled dormers along the south and north elevations of the nave. The
windows located along the north elevation of the nave depict the
foliowing scenes or individuals: St. Boniface, Our Lady of Lourdes, and
the conversion of St. Paul. The following are represented in the windows
located along the south elevation of the nave: Joseph in Egypt, the Geood
Samaritan, and the presentation of the Keys of the Kingdom to St. Paul.

° Single mid-sized lancet windows are located beneath each of the gabled
dormers of the transepts. The stained giass windows depict the
following figures or scenes: the Presentation of Christ, the
Annunciation, the Transfiguration and the Descent of the Holy Spirit.
There are a total of four of these mid-sized windows.

° A series of smaller narrow lancet windows are located on each of the
steeples and the east elevation of the church with additicnal windows of
varying sizes and dimensions scattered throughout the building, in the
various secondary entrances and along the sacristy. There are two of
these smaller lancet windows located on the east elevation of the
building, two in the center steeple, seven on the north elevation, two on
the west elevation and seven on the building's south elevation.

e Large lancet windows with elaborate multi-foiled tracery are located in
each of the steeples, above the entrances. There are a total of three of
these windows.

- e Small lancet windows serve as transom windows above the entrances to

the sacristy. There are two Such transom windows.
DEC-02-1984 ©8:51 5873340124 P.85
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Q Decorative Windows:

A number of round and triangular shaped windows have been incorporated into the
design of the buiiding. The windows are outlined by smooth sawed limestone which
sets them apart from the building's rock-faced walls.

° A large rose window is located above the trio of lancet windows located
in both the north and south ends of the transepts. The windows’
decorative tracery is an eight-lobed pattern with simple cusps. There are
two large rose windows in the church.

° Smaller rose windows are located in the gables of the gabled dormers of
the east and west elevations of each transept. The windows' decorative
tracery is a four-lobed pattern with simple cusps. There are a total of
four small rose windows in the church.

. A small trianguiar, almost shieid-shaped, window is located above the
larger rose windows in the south and north ends of the transepts. There
are a total of two of these windows in the church.

° A small circular window is located in each of the gables of the center
steeple. There are a total of four of these windows in the steeple.

] Miscellaneous Windows:

A series of lessor non-character defining double hung windows are located in window
wells along the base of the building.

Entrances:

Massive lancet arches highlight the entrances along the east facade of the church.
Decorative roil molding above each arch creates a gabie-like effect. A small stone
trefoil tops the “gables” above the entrances in each of the smaller steeples. A

simple stone cross adorns the molding above the primary entrance. A stylized stone
DEC-82-1994 @8:52 SPT3340124 P.86
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"arrow” pointing skyward has been placed in the peak of the gable, below the stone
cross. The building's secondary entrances are framed by smooth, sawed stone.

Eight-paneled wood doors with quatrefoil moiding provide access to the church.
Double doors may be found at the three entrances on the east facade of the building.
Single doors are located in the transept entrances. Simple six paneled doors are
iocated at the seconaary entrances.

Steps are located at each entrance. The steps to five of the entrances have closed
balustrades with smaoth stone caps and pipe railing systems. A simpie pipe railing
runs along the steps which lead to the sacristy.

lisceilanegus Elements:

A multiplicity of simple stone buttresses are placed throughout the building. Topped
- by caps of smooth stone, the vertical lines of the buttresses are interrupted by the
placement of contrasting kneestones at regular intervals. Stone gablets top the
buttresses located along the walls of the three steeples.

Other architectural features inciude the beit coursing of smooth stone, the building's
dentil-like stone work, the stone moidings found along the roof line of the sanctuary
and throughout the steeples, the recessed corbeled stone work of the steeples and the

repeating pattern of ornamental arches evident in the steeples and east facade of the
building.

Two plagques have been incorporated into the walls of the building. The first, carved
in limestone, is located in the south wail of the sacristy and lists the names of the
church's pastor, architect, members of the building company, and members of the
building committee. The second, carved in highly polished granite, is located in the
east facade, south of the center steeple, and identifies the name of the bmldmg and
the year it was completed.
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INTERIOR ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES:

The spacious interior of the church is a wonder of craftsmanship, rich Gothic
ormamentation and religious artifacts.

A series of delicate fan vaults are located throughout the building. Two rows of five
Corinthian columns line the nave. Rich wood wainscotting protects the lower
portions of the walls, a repeating pattern of lancet arches incorporated into its
design. The walls are decorated by series of stylized floral stencils. Fresco work --
completed by Joseph Walters of Dubuque, lowa -- depicting various religious scenes
and figures covers the ceiling. Pews, providing seating for approximately five
hundred, line the center isle and two side isles. A choir loft is located at the east
end of the nave. The flooring is maple.

The church's ornate and elaborately carved altars, pews and confessionais were
designed and built by E. Hackner of the Hackner Altar Company of LaCrosse, ¥isconsin.
His work vas described at the time as “undoubtably (some) of the best ever
manufactured by the designer. The spectator is at once impressed with the
complieteness and majesty of the same. Everything that Gothic design couid furnish to
enhance beauty and devotion seems to have come together here in @ most remarkable
manner.” {("New Church is Consecrated”, Duyersville Commercial, October 26, 1906) These
pieces were constructed of eim and richly decorated with a variety of pinnacies,

finials, columns, arches, elabarately carved panels and statuary.

The semi-circular high or main altar is located in the middle of the sanctuary. It is
forty feet (40°) high and eighteen feet {18') wide. The aitar table and tabernacle are
made of highly polished Italian marble inlaid with mosaic work. Two side altars have
been piaced to the north and south of the high altar. Each measures thirty-six feet in
height and is ten feet in width. A votive aitar is located in the south transept. A

pieta altar in the north transept. Each is thirty-four feet (34') high and ten feet (107)
yide.

Double confessionals are located along the east walls of both the south and north
transepts. '
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The organ, located in the choir loft, was acquired by the church from the Teller Organ
Company of Erie, Pennsylivania in 1939.

Statuary depicting the stations of the cross are mounted along the walls of the nave.

The names of the many “sponsors” of the building's interior furnishings, statuary,
frescos and windows are inscribed in German on or adjacent to each piece. The phrase
“ Geschenk von® -- a gift from -- is used throughout the buiiding.

ALTERATIONS TO BUILDING:

The following are the only known aiterations or modifications that have been made to
1e exterior of the building. These activities are easily reversed or have had a
minimai effect on the architectural integrity of the building.

The stone has been sandblasted and repointed
The building has been re-roofed
Pipe railings have been installed along the steps

Aluminum storm doors have been installed at secondary entrances
Metal gutter system has been installed

Storm windows have been installed over the originai windows

The interior of the church has undergone several changes since its completion in
190S. The hanging puipit and the original light fixtures were removed in 1956. The
communion rail was removed between 1973 and 1975 and used in the construction of
the present communion stations and the lecture stands. The original stenciling
around the window openings was restored in 1982.

" QUTBUILDINGS:

Behind the church are two outbuildings: a one story rectangular wood frame building
with a side gabled roof and a small wood shed of similar construction. The rectory,
_butitin 1917, and an Art Deco parochial school are located just north of the church.

‘one of the four structures are considered to be contributing structures for the
purposes-of this nomination.
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ILLUSTRATION 1: Otting, Loras C., "Gothic Spiendor in Northeast lowa
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ILLUSTRATION 3: lowa insurance Service Bureau, Petersburg, lowa, October 1933,
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Saints Peter and Paul Church, Petersburg, Delaware County, 1A

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Saints Peter and Paul Church, completed in 1905, is an excellent example of Late
Gothic Revival architecture. A religious property, the building would not normally be
considered for listing on the National Register of Historic Places, however it clearly
complies with the criteria consideration in that its primary significance is drawn
from its architectural distinction, not its religious association, and that it has
maintained its architectural integrity.

The building represents the work of a little known regional architect, Martin Heer.

Significant Architectural Qualities:

The smooth simple silhouette of Saints Peter and Paul Church refiects many of the
features which typify Late Gothic Revival architecture. |ts stone masonry, varied
architectural detail, rose and lancet windows, multi-foiled stone tracery, simple
buttresses, and vaulted construction were superbly transiated into what has been
described as one of the "Gothic gems” of lowa. The building serves as a tribute to the
devotion, craftsmanship and sacrifice of its German parish.

The church, located at the terminus of Petersburg's Main Street, towers over the
smail village. Established in the eariy 1870s, this primarily residential community
is comprised of simple one and two story wood structures. None of the buildings are
as prominent nor as architecturally significant as Saints Peter and Paul Church.
There are no other examples of Gothic architecture in the community.

The church is one of four outstanding Gothic churches constructed in lowa in
Delawars and Dubuque counties in the late 19th and early 20th centuries: St. Boniface
Church in New Vienna, St. Francis Xavier in Dyersville, and Holy Trinity Church of
Luxembourg. Though their Gathic influences are apparent, the buildings themselves
are unigue. St. Boniface Church (1884-1887) is constructed of locally quarried white
magnesia limestone. The building has a single two hundred foot (200°) tall steeple.
St. Francis Xavier (1887-1889) is brick with massive twin towers. The third, Holy
Trinity Church, was constructed of brick in 1874 with a single 172" steeple. Saints
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Peter and Paul Church is perhaps the most impressive and unique of the group with its
prominent silhouette and its three steeples

Architect:

The church was commissioned by its pastor, Father wm. B. Sassen, in 1903. The
selected architect, Martin Heer, arrived in the region in the mid-1880s and remained
in the area for thirty years. His offices were located east of Petersburg, in Dubuque,
lowa. Heer's advertisements noted that he was an "“Architect and Superintendent”
whose speciality was churches. He provided drawings, plans, working drawings,
details, estimates and specifications for all kinds of public and private buildings.

"is credited with having designed the following religious buildings: Holy Ghost
cauiolic Church & School, Dubuque, lowa (1896); Sts. Peter & Paul Church, Petersburg,
lowa (1905); School and Convent, Fort Atkinson, lowa (1906) and St. Boniface Cathalic
Church, Clinton, lowa (1908). Heer was also the architect of at least one commercial
building -- the Eichhorn Building in Dubugue, lowa (1889) -- and a school in Fort
Atkinson, lowa (date unknown).

Craftsmen and Builders:

The limestone plague installed in the exterior wall of the sacristy credits the
following individuals with Saints Peter and Paul Church’'s construction: Most
Reverend John J. Keane and Reverend Wm. B. Sassen. Building Committee members
listed on the plaque: Joe Bagge, Joe Gebhard, B. Bergfeid, B. Mensen, J. Deppe, J.
Bruggemann, J.H. Osterhaus, H. Loesche, H. Scherbring, H. Lammers, G. Schmeders and
Con. Schmueker. The plague also notes the membership of the church committee: Joe
Bagge, Clem Klastermann, J.G. Goedken and H. Willenborg.

The foundation was built by M.J. Mersch, and its superstructure by F.D. Schnak, a
contractor from Dubuque,lowa.

The high degree of craftsmanship evident in the stonework of Saints Peter and Paul
rch is also apparent in the richly detailed and elaborately carved altars, pews and
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Saints Peter and Paul Church, Petersburg,‘De!awdre County, IA

confessionals of the church. Designed and built by E. Hackner of the Hackner Altar
Company of LaCrosse, ¥isconsin, the pieces were described as some of the best ever
manufactured by the company.

-onstruction on the building was completed in 1903 at a cost of exghtg-fwe thousand
Jollars (385,000).

The building has undergone few exterior changes since its construction in 1903. It
retains the qualities which establish it as as excellent example of Late Gothic
Revival architecture.

MARTIN HEER
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ILLUSTRATION 3.

Dubugue of Today: The Key City. Historical, Descriptive and Biographical, Commercial and Indus
(Dubuque, lowa: The Telegraph Job Printing Company, 1897).
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ILLUSTRATION 6: Merry, John F, ed., History of Delaware County lowa And Its People
~ (Chicago, IL: The S.J. Clarke Publishing Company, 1914), page 321.
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ILLUSTRATION 7: Hoffmann, Rev. Matthias M., ed., Centennial History of the
Archdiocese of Dubuque. (Dubuque, lowa: Columbia College Press,

1938) page 214.
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ILLUSTRATION 8: Otting, Loras C., "Gathic Splendor in Northeast lowa.™ The
Palimpsest, Y0l. 66 No. 5, September-0ctober 1985, cover page.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
Legal Description: Lot 2 NE1/4 NE1/4 Section 5 Township 89 N Range 3 W

Verbal Description: Commencing at a point at the northeast corner of the SE1/4
of the NE 1/4 of Section S Township 89 North of Range 3
West, running west 40 rod thence north 8 rod, thence east
40 rod, thence south 8 rod to starting point

YVERBAL BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

oundary description reflects the originai plat of land deeded to the Right Reverend
John Hennesey, Bishop by Peter Domeyer and his wife, Elizabeth Domeyer on May 18,
1868 for purposes of erecting a church.

Petersburg is named for Peter Domeyer, one of the area’s earliest settlers.
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ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION:

Name:

Location:
Photographer:

Date of Photograph:

Location of Negative:

Description of View:
Photograph Number:

Name:

Location:
Photographer:

Date of Photograph:

Location of Negative:

Description of View:
Photograph Number:

Name:

Location:
Photographer:

Date of Phatograph:

Location of Negative:

Description of View:
Photograph Number:

Name:

Location:
Photographer:

Date of Photagraph:

Location of Negative:

Description of View:

Phatograph Number:

Photographs

Saints Peter and Paul Church
Delawars County, lowa

Sara Anne Daines

November 11, 1893

State Historical Society of lowa
NE Comner, North Side, Facing S¥f

1

Saints Peter and Paul Church
Delaware County, lowa

Sara Anne Daines

Novemper 11, 1993

State Historical Society of lowa
St Corner, South Side, Facing Nw
2

Saints Peter and Paul Church
Deilavrare County, lowa

Sara Anne Daines

November 11, 1993

State Historical Society of lowa
East Side, Facing West

*3

Saints Peter and Paul Church
Delavrare County, lowa

Sara Anne Daines

November 11, 1993

State Historical Society of lowa
Section Sguth Side, Facing NE
(Sacristy and Sanctuary)

4
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ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION:

Photographs

e Name: Saints Peter and Paul Church
Location: Delavrare County, lowa
Photographer: Sara Anne Daines
Date of Photagraph: November 11, 1993
Location of Negative: State Historical Society of lowa
Description of Yiew: Section North Side, Facing South

(Transepts)
Photograph Number: *3 ‘

e Name: Saints Peter and Paul Church
Location: Delaware County, lovra
Photographer: Sara Anne Daines
Date of Photograph: November 11, 1993

Location of Negative:

Description of View:

Photograph Number:

State Historical Society of iows

west Side, Section South Side, Facing NE
(Sacristy)

*6
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